
Community & Economic Development Committee

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers, 6th Floor6:30 PMWednesday, December 13, 2023

1. Call meeting to order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll call of membership

4. Approval of minutes from previous meeting

23-1423 CEDC Minutes from 10-25-23

CEDC Minutes 10-25-23.pdfAttachments:

5. Public Hearing/Appearances

6. Action Items

23-1424 Request to approve a variance to Section 13 of the Southpoint Commerce 

Park Plats No. 1, 2 & 3 Deed Restrictions and Covenants to allow a 12 

month extension to the City's right to repurchase Lot 1, CSM #3549 (Tax Id 

#31-9-5712-40) from Oshkosh AAP, LLC

Oshkosh AAP Powerline Trail Variance Request Memo 12-13-23.pdf

SPCP Deed Restrictions.pdf

Oshkosh AAP, LLC Accepted OTP 11-9-23.pdf

Attachments:

23-1425 Request to approve an extension of the purchase date from September 29, 

2023 to July 31, 2024 under the Development Agreement (Phase II) with 

Merge LLC for a mixed-use development located on the southeast corner 

of W. Washington Street and N. Appleton Street (Tax Id #31-2-0272-00) in 

Tax Increment Financing District No. 11

Merge Ph II DA Extend Purchase Date Memo to CEDC 12-13-23.pdf

Request from Merge Purchase Date Extension Development Agreement.pdf

1st Amendment to Dev Agrm Merge Ph II 2-3-23.pdf

Merge Ph II Blue Ramp Recorded Dev Agrm 2-16-22.pdf

Attachments:

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 12/11/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23597
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9a1a4f6f-0939-457e-b258-111edd45d199.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23598
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5db348b8-994e-46cf-b6aa-e0ef539b951d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ce436cea-1601-4f3a-be74-acebae287ea8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b62c96ac-34ea-4506-aa06-e79cf73c0b4b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23599
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=178ee1fa-eeeb-4041-bec8-0b9309fcce2a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fde1a849-b214-482e-8a1b-9560052a2f42.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a1b8e815-80b9-41bf-a4d6-222f84c12bca.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=26ce6d00-7959-4de8-92c9-a7244f2c426f.pdf


December 13, 2023Community & Economic 

Development Committee

Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

23-1426 Request to approve a "no build" easement on and over a certain portion of 

the parcel located on the southeast corner of W. Washington Street and N. 

Appleton Street (Tax Id #31-2-0272-00) to be signed by the City upon 

receipt of $40,000.00 from Fox Commons Properties, LLC

Fox Commons Easement Request Memo 12-13-23.pdf

Ltr Signed by Fox Commons and Merge Re Terms of No Build Easement.pdf

Sketch of Proposed Easement Area on Former Blue Ramp Site.pdf

Redline - No Build Easement (11.13.23)-36056159-v3 and No Build Easement (11.13.23)-36056159-v4 - 36104438.1.pdf

Attachments:

23-1427 Request to approve the allocation of approximately $86,550 in City 

Program Funding for 2024 Program Year Community Development Block 

Grant (CDBG) Funding for a joint Appleton Health/Police Departments 

Community Resource Navigator position (not to exceed 15% public 

service cap of final CDBG 2024PY allocation amount)

CRN Position_CDBG Funding Request_CEDC Memo 12-13-23.pdf

Community Resource Navigator_CDBG_2024_Health-PD_Full Application.pdf

Attachments:

23-1434 Resolution #2023-05 Support and Authorize the Submittal of a Community 

Development Investment (CDI) Grant to the Wisconsin Economic 

Development Corporation (WEDC) by Fox Commons Properties, LLC

Memo_CDI Grant_FoxDen_CEDC_12-13-23.pdf

Resolution#2023-05_CityofAppletonSupport_CDIGrant_FoxCommons.pdf

CDI Executive Summary Fox Commons Properties LLC.pdf

Fox Den Food Hall draftv1.pdf

WEDC Community Development Investment Grant Overview.pdf

Attachments:

7. Information Items

23-1462 Request to Over Hire Real Estate Property Lister (appears on the Human 

Resources & Information Technology Committee agenda as an action 

item)

Memo_CED_OverhireRequest_PropertyLister.pdfAttachments:

8. Adjournment

Notice is hereby given that a quorum of the Common Council may be present during this 

meeting, although no Council action will be taken.

Any questions about items on this meeting are to be directed to Kara Homan, Director, 

Community and Economic Development Department at 920-832-6468.

Reasonable Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities will be made upon Request 

and if Feasible.

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 12/11/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23600
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=894ec4b5-710b-4468-8598-a6ac1fc6235f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=11674218-7c32-41cc-9271-2f4670df6774.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=76ea8689-12dc-464c-abb7-8e1d2b54e340.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a0a92f82-dcd2-4714-a0a0-ef228084855e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23601
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5c8be811-826c-47af-baa2-9e7b2ffb2134.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3ba40b47-0547-4fc8-af2b-399d7e93cd70.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23608
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ceb76c5f-ec1d-470d-b612-2d678bebb4ba.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=73b5dd55-ca44-438e-8e2c-05b9c7bb7c62.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6b6be626-8109-40b9-8625-c338d9cf1f45.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8c18515a-99fa-45ba-9e46-bbc6f2d2b6ae.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=71ac2888-62dc-466a-ad32-8c727a90cbb0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23636
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1a2b5be1-d942-4cdc-9453-2d8f596f89b1.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Community & Economic Development 

Committee

6:30 PM Council Chambers, 6th FloorWednesday, October 25, 2023

Call meeting to order1.

Chair Fenton called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.

Pledge of Allegiance2.

Roll call of membership3.

Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and WolffPresent: 5 - 

Approval of minutes from previous meeting4.

23-1231 CEDC Minutes from 10-11-23

CEDC Minutes 10-11-23.pdfAttachments:

Thyssen moved, seconded by Wolff, that the Minutes be approved. Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and Wolff5 - 

Public Hearing/Appearances5.

23-1232 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Notice of Funding 

Available and Community Needs for the 2024 Program Year (4/1/24 - 

3/31/25) (Associated with Action Item #23-1233)

Funding Available Community Needs - Public Hearing Notice 

2023.pdf

Attachments:

This public hearing was held and no one spoke.

This public hearing was held, and no one spoke on the item.

Action Items6.

Page 1City of Appleton



October 25, 2023Community & Economic 

Development Committee

Meeting Minutes - Final

23-1233 Request to approve City Program Funding for 2024 Community 

Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding as specified in the 

attached document

CEDC_CDBG_Initial_Allocation_Memo.pdf

CDBG PY24 Request for Funds - Appleton Housing.pdf

Attachments:

Wolff moved, seconded by Del Toro, that City Program Funding for 2024 CDBG 

Funding be recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and Wolff5 - 

Information Items7.

Adjournment8.

Wolff moved, seconded by Thyssen, that the meeting be adjourned at 6:42 p.m. 

Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and Wolff5 - 

Page 2City of Appleton



 

 

 

 

TO:  Community & Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 
 
FROM: Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist  
 
DATE:  December 13, 2023 
 
RE:  Request for a Variance to the Deed Restrictions and Covenants – Southpoint 

Commerce Park – Lot 1 of CSM #3549 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-40) – Oshkosh 
AAP, LLC 

 

 

 
The City of Appleton is in the process of acquiring the northern thirty (30) feet of the above-
referenced parcel for completion of the “Powerline Trail” (Accepted Offer to Purchase 
attached).  This project is within the Plan and Budget for Parks, Rec and Facilities.  As part of 
these negotiations, Oshkosh AAP, LLC has asked for a twelve (12) month extension under the 
“Repurchase Rights, Failure to Build” provision in the Southpoint Commerce Park Plats No. 1, 
2 & 3 Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions (Section 13).    
 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



- 2 - 

Based on the acquisition date of January 31, 2023, this extension would give Oshkosh AAP, 
LLC until January 31, 2025 to build on the land before the City would have the option to 
repurchase under this section of the Deed Restrictions and Covenants. 
 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

A twelve (12) month extension to the City’s option to repurchase Lot 1 of CSM #3549 in 
Southpoint Commerce Park from Oshkosh AAP, LLC under Section 13 of the Deed 
Restrictions and Covenants BE APPROVED.   

 



andershm
Text Box
Exhibit B Deed Restrictions















































Andy Dumke, member of Oshkosh AAP, LLC

11-9-23







 

 

 

 

 

 
 

TO: Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 
  
FROM:   Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist  
 
DATE: December 13, 2023 

RE: Request Approval to Extend Purchase Date per the Development 
Agreement Between the City of Appleton and Merge, LLC in TIF #11 

 
 

The Appleton City Council approved a Development Agreement (DA) with Merge, LLC 
(Developer) in January 2022 and amended February 3, 2023 for development of a site 
at the southeast corner of Washington Street and Appleton Street (the Blue Ramp Site). 
This is the second phase of Merge’s development, with the first nearly complete 
immediately east of the subject site at 115 E. Washington Street.  Phase I construction 
was delayed due to changing environments of interest rates, supply chain challenges, 
and labor shortages.  
 
Per the existing Development Agreement, Merge was to acquire the Former Blue Ramp 
Site from the City by September 29, 2023.  We have received a request from Merge to 
extend this date to July 31, 2024.  As part of due diligence, Merge discovered 
previously unknown environmental contamination and an old building foundation, 
thereby adding cost to the project.  Additionally, the interest rate environment has 
changed, making the extended timeline more feasible.  Extending the timeline will allow 
Merge to align construction with Phase I completion and allow time for significant pre-
construction investment and coordination among architects and contractors as well.   
 
This proposed extension only extends the timeline for purchase of the property to 
ensure it remains under contract.  A future amendment to the DA is anticipated closer to 
closing to reflect then current interest rates and construction costs currently unknown. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
An extension of the purchase date from September 29, 2023 to July 31, 2024 under the 
Development Agreement between the City of Appleton and Merge, LLC for Tax Id #31-
2-0272-00 BE APPROVED. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



1 

 

 
     604 Clay Street                        25 W Main Street, Suite 500 

    Cedar Falls, IA 50613   Madison, WI 53703 
        

 

  

Matt Rehbein 
City of Appleton Community & Economic Development 
100 N. Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911 
 
 
 
 
RE: Blue Ramp Development Agreement Extension 
 
 
This letter serves as a formal request by Merge LLC to extend the land purchase date to July 31st, 

2024. Merge LLC agrees, upon Council approval, to the above stated extension with the 

understanding that the current, executed development agreement will be amended at a later date to 

reflect accordingly. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Brent Dahlstrom 
CEO & Managing Partner 
Merge Urban Development 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 















































 

 

 

 

 

 
 

TO: Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 
  
FROM:   Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist  
 
DATE: December 13, 2023 

RE: Request from Fox Commons Properties, LLC for “No Build” Easement 
on Former Blue Ramp Site - Tax Id #31-2-0272-00 

 
 
Fox Commons Properties, LLC is in the process of redeveloping City Center Plaza as 
outlined under a Development Agreement dated July 10, 2023.  In the course of 
permitting for same, they have identified a need for a 5-foot separation to allow for 
windows on the northern portion of the building.  To accomplish this, Fox Commons 
Properties, LLC has requested a “no build” easement on the adjacent parcel (Tax Id 
#31-2-0272-00, a/k/a Former Blue Ramp Site) as shown on the attached sketch. 
 
The Former Blue Ramp Site is owned by the City of Appleton and is subject to a 
Development Agreement between the City of Appleton and Merge, LLC.  The City 
asked Merge and Fox Commons Properties, LLC to communicate directly to provide for 
the continued development of City Center Plaza and renders a developable Blue Ramp 
site remaining.   
 
An impact amount of $40,000.00 was agreed upon by Merge and Fox Commons 
Properties, LLC.  It is anticipated this amount will be collected by the City at time of 
signing the requested easement.  At the time of Merge closing on the sale of the Former 
Blue Ramp Site parcel, they will receive a credit for the same amount (to be 
memorialized in a future Amendment to the Merge Development Agreement). 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
The “no build” easement on Tax Id #31-2-0272-00 be signed by the City upon receipt of 
$40,000.00 from Fox Commons Properties, LLC BE APPROVED. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 





 

PROPOSED EASEMENT AREA 

 

 



 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NO BUILD 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

Document Title 

Recording Area 

 

 

 

 

This Document was drafted by and after 

recording return to: 

Michael Best & Friedrich LLP 

1 S. Pinckney Street, Suite 700 

Madison, WI 53703 

Attn: Kevin A. Martin 

PINs: See Exhibit A and Exhibit B 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

1 

NO BUILD EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

THIS NO BUILD EASEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is dated as of the ___ day of 

__________, 2023 (“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Appleton, a Wisconsin municipal 

corporation ("Grantor''), and the Fox Commons Condominium Association, Inc., a Wisconsin 

nonstock corporation (“Grantee”). 

 

RECITALS 

 

A. Grantor is the owner of certain real property located in the City of Appleton, County 

of Outagamie, Wisconsin, legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (“Parcel 1”).   

 

B. Grantee is the governing association for the Fox Commons Condominium (the 

“Condominium”), created under the Condominium Ownership Act of the State of Wisconsin pursuant 

to that certain Declaration of Condominium for Fox Commons Condominium recorded in the office 

of the Register of Deeds of Outagamie County on August 15, 2023, as Document Number 2297870 

and the Fox Commons Condominium Plat recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of 

Outagamie County on August 15, 2023, as Document Number 2297871, with respect to the land and 

buildings located in the City of Appleton, County of Outagamie, Wisconsin legally described on 

Exhibit B attached hereto (“Parcel 2”). 

 

C. Grantee and/or certain owners of units within the Condominium desire to rehabilitate 

and repurpose the building located on Parcel 2 (the "Building''). 

 

D. Grantee has requested a no build easement on and over a certain portion of Parcel 1, 

as legally described and depicted on Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Easement Area”), in order to 

satisfy building code requirements applicable to the north and west-facing walls of the Building. 

 

E. Grantor is willing to grant the requested easement so as to permit the rehabilitation, 

operation, maintenance, and reconstruction of the Building on Parcel 2, subject to the terms and 

conditions set forth herein. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of One Dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Grantor and Grantee 

hereby agree as follows: Grantor hereby declares, conveys, and grants the following described 

Easement to the Grantee, and the Grantee hereby accepts such Easement from the Grantor, as follows:

 

1. Grant of Easement.  Grantor hereby declares, establishes, grants, and conveys for the 

benefit of, and deemed appurtenant to, Parcel 2, a perpetual, negative easement prohibiting the 

construction of any new or additional above-ground structures, including, but not limited to, a 

dumpster enclosure, garage, shed, fence, or any other above-ground building or structurestructures 

within the Easement Area (the “Easement”).  The Easement shall be perpetual.    

 

2. Binding Effect.  This Agreement and the terms, conditions, restrictions, covenants, 

and agreements set forth herein, including the benefits and burdens, shall run with the land, and shall 

be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the owners or governing associations, as applicable, of 

Parcel 1 and Parcel 2.  The Easement granted hereunder is an easement appurtenant to Parcel 2 and 

may not be assigned, transferred or conveyed separately from, or severed from, the title to Parcel 2.     



 

3 

 

3. Amendment or Termination. This Agreement may only be amended or terminated by 

the recording of a written instrument in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Outagamie County, 

Wisconsin, executed by or on behalf of the owners or governing associations, as applicable, of Parcel 

1 and Parcel 2.   

 

4. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with 

the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

 

5. Invalidity.  If any term or condition of this Agreement, or the application of this 

Agreement to any person or circumstance, shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable, the remainder 

of this Agreement, or the application of the term or condition to persons or circumstances other than 

those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term and 

condition shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
 

6. Waiver.  No delay or omission by any party in exercising any right or power arising 

out of any default under any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall be construed to be a 

waiver of the right or power.  A waiver by a party of any of the obligations of the other party shall 

not be construed to be a waiver of any breach of any other terms or conditions of this Agreement. 
 

7. Enforcement.  Grantee, or its successors or assigns, shall have the right to enforce the 

provisions hereof by proceedings at law or in equity against any person or persons violating or 

attempting to violate any provision of the Agreement, either to restrain or cure the violation or to 

recover damages, or both.  If any suit or action is brought to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, 

the party who prevails in such action or suit shall be entitled to recover its court costs and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees from the other party. 

 

8. No Merger.  This Agreement shall not be extinguished by reason of the fact that any 

interest in Parcel 1 may be held directly or indirectly by or for the account of any person who shall 

hold directly or indirectly any interest in all or any portion of Parcel 2; and no merger shall occur 

unless and until each and every owner of Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 shall execute a written instrument 

effecting a merger, which instrument shall be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of 

Outagamie County, Wisconsin. 

 

9. No Public Dedication.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed a gift or dedication 

of any portion of the Easement Area to the general public or for any public purpose whatsoever. 

 

10. Notices.  All notices under this Agreement shall be delivered in person or sent by 

certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the other party or parties at its or their last 

known address.  If a party's address is not known to the party desiring to send a notice, the party 

sending the notice may use the address to which the other party's property tax bills, if any, are sent.  

Any party may change its address for notice by providing written notice to the other party. 

 

 

Exhibits: 

Exhibit A - Legal Description of Parcel 1 

Exhibit B - Legal Description of Parcel 2 

Exhibit C - Legal Description and Depiction of Easement Area 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank – Signature Pages Follow] 



 

3 

 



 

Signature Page to No Build Easement Agreement 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this No Build Easement Agreement is executed as of the 

Effective Date. 

GRANTOR:   

CITY OF APPLETON 

a Wisconsin municipal corporation 

 

 

 By:   ________________________________ 

 Name:   _____________________________ 

 Title:   ______________________________ 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

By:   ________________________________ 

Name:   _____________________________ 

Title:   ______________________________ 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

STATE OF WISCONSIN  ) 

) SS. 

COUNTY OF OUTAGAMIE ) 

Personally came before me this ____ day of __________ 2023, the above-named 

________________, known to me to be the __________________ of the City of Appleton, and 

________________, known to me to be the ___________________ of the City of Appleton, to me 

known to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same in 

the capacity and for the purposes therein intended. 

 

        

Print Name:       

Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 

My Commission:      



 

Signature Page to No Build Easement Agreement 

 

GRANTEE: 

FOX COMMONS COMDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.,  

a Wisconsin nonstock corporation 

 

 

By:   ___________________________________ 

Name:   _________________________________ 

Title:   __________________________________ 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

STATE OF WISCONSIN  ) 

) SS. 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

Personally came before me this ____ day of _________ 2023, the above-named 

_________________, known to me to be the ________________ of the Fox Commons 

Condominium Association, to me known to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument 

and acknowledged the same in the capacity and for the purposes therein intended. 

 

        

Print Name:       

Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 

My Commission:      



 

Exhibit A to No Build Easement Agreement 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Legal Description of Parcel 1 

 

[To be added.] 

Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 8298, being part of the Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of 

Section 26, Township 21 North, Range 17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin. 

 

Tax Parcel Number:  312027200 

 

 



 

Exhibit C to No Build Easement Agreement 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Legal Description of Parcel 2 

 

Units 1 and 2 and so much of the undivided interest in the common areas and facilities 

appurtenant to such Units in the percentage specified and established in the hereinafter-

mentioned Declaration, in a Condominium commonly known as FOX COMMONS 

CONDOMINIUM, created under the Condominium Ownership Act of the State of Wisconsin 

by Declaration of Condominium for Fox Commons Condominium recorded on August 15, 

2023, in the office of the Register of Deeds for Outagamie County, Wisconsin, as Document 

No. 2297870. Said condominium being located in the City of Appleton, Outagamie County, 

Wisconsin on the real estate described in said Declaration and incorporated herein by this 

reference thereto. 

 

Tax Parcel Number: 312029001 

  



 

Exhibit C to No Build Easement Agreement 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Legal Description of the Easement Area 

 

Beginning at the Southeast Corner of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 8298 (Doc. 2264330); 

thence S89°56'34”W along the North line of City Center Street and the South line of said Lot 

1, 164.31 feet; thence N00°01'21”W, 5.00 feet; thence N89°56'34”E, 159.30 feet; thence 

N00°01'21”W, 50.11 feet; thence N89°56'34”E, 5.00 feet to the West line of N. Oneida Street 

and the East line of Lot 1 of said Map No. 8298; thence S00°01'21”E along said West line and 

said East line, 55.11 feet to the point of beginning. Said EASEMENT is subject to all 

easements, and restrictions of record. Said EASEMENT encumbers 1,072 SF (0.0246 Ac) of 

said GRANTOR'S land. 

 

  



 

Exhibit C to No Build Easement Agreement 

 

EXHIBIT C 

Depiction of Easement Area 

 



 

 

 

 

Summary report:  

Litera Compare for Word 11.4.0.111 Document comparison done on 

11/21/2023 9:05:01 PM 

Style name: MBFDefault 

Intelligent Table Comparison: Active 

Original DMS: iw://michaelbest-mobility.imanage.work/MBF/36056159/3 

Modified DMS: iw://michaelbest-mobility.imanage.work/MBF/36056159/4 

Changes:  

Add  9 

Delete  1 

Move From 0 

Move To 0 

Table Insert 0 

Table Delete 0 

Table moves to 0 

Table moves from 0 

Embedded Graphics (Visio, ChemDraw, Images etc.) 0 

Embedded Excel  0 

Format changes 0 

Total Changes:  10 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC)  

  

FROM: Olivia Galyon, Community Development Specialist   

 

DATE:  December 13, 2023  

 

RE: Appleton Health Department and Police Department Joint 2024 Community Development 

Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Application 

 

Per City of Appleton CDBG Policy, the CEDC must approve applications for City Programs. Staff has 

estimated that the City of Appleton’s 2024 CDBG allocation from the U.S. Department of Housing and 

Urban Development (HUD) will be around $576,900. This amount is an estimation based on allocations 

from previous years and may fluctuate. The City has received a joint application from the Appleton Health 

Department and Police Department to fund a Community Resource Navigator position. The requested 

amount for this position is $86,550. This position is considered a public service, thus subject to the public 

service cap of 15% of the total CDBG allocation, projected at $86,550. This position is expected to be 

continuously funded by CDBG dollars each year, but the amount available may vary depending on HUD’s 

annual allocation.  

 

Appleton Police Department and the Health Department are working together to address an increased need 

to directly respond to individuals experiencing homelessness and other crisis situations and provide 

resources necessary to secure basic needs and safety. The Appleton PD receives an increasing number of 

calls concerning individuals experiencing homelessness who, while not engaging in criminal activities, are 

in need of support to meet their basic necessities and secure shelter. This role would be well suited to 

respond to the needs of residents in crisis and connect residents with support and services to address their 

short- and long-term needs. Goals of this position include decreasing duplicate calls to police for individual 

clients and streamlining the process to identify clients and connect them with service providers meeting 

their needs. This staff person will serve as a repository of knowledge of the services and resources available 

to residents and reduce police-response to non-criminal matters.  

 

CEDD staff has reviewed the application in accordance with CDBG guidelines and in consultation with a 

representative from HUD and determined this project is eligible to receive CDBG funding. This project 

meets an urgent need within the community due to the increasing number of homelessness and mental 

health-related calls to police, and thus falls under the Urgent Need national objective. Additionally, mental 

health services are an allowable activity under the CDBG public services category. CEDD staff 

recommends approval of the allocation of approximately $86,550 in CBDG funds for this position (not to 

exceed 15% public service cap of final CDBG 2024PY allocation amount).  

 

If you have any questions, please contact me at 832-6469 or olivia.galyon@appleton.org. Thank you! 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

mailto:olivia.galyon@appleton.org


 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 
2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 

 
 
 

 
 

PART A – CONTACT INFORMATION 

1. Program/Project Name:  Community Resource Navigator 

2. Contact Person Name/Title:  Chuck Sepers/Health Officer | Director 

3. City Department:  Health 

4. Supervisor Name/Title (if applicable):  Jake Woodford/Mayor 

5. Telephone Number:  (920) 832-6433 

6. Fax Number:  (   )    -     

7. Email Address:  charles.sepers@appleton.org 

 

PART B – INDICATORS 
 

1. To be eligible for funding, the program/project for which you are requesting funding must address one 
national objective.  
 

 

 The project meets the needs of low- and moderate-income persons. At least 51 percent of the participants or 
beneficiaries of the project will meet the low- and moderate-income guidelines listed in Exhibit A. 
 

 The project is located in a low- and moderate-income area. In this case, the project must be available to all 
the residents of one of the areas identified on the map in Exhibit B and primarily residential. Typical activities 
funded are area street improvements, water and sewer lines, parks and other public facilities. 
 

 The project meets the needs of one of the following specific groups of people (low-mod limited clientele): 
abused children, elderly persons, battered spouses, homeless persons, severely disabled persons, illiterate adults, 
persons living with AIDS and migrant farm workers. 
 

 The project provides housing assistance to low- and moderate-income households. Fundable activities 
include housing rehabilitation, acquisition of property for housing and homeownership assistance. 
 

 The project creates or retains jobs for low- and moderate-income persons. 
 

 The project eliminates specific instances of blight or physical decay. The only activities to be funded under 
this category are acquisition, demolition or rehabilitation of buildings. 
 
 

 

http://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=d7OWcALY&id=B64C3B00422239209F44783B44C720EC65036D4B&thid=OIP.d7OWcALYJxxQEvgcZG6lgAEsED&q=city+of+appleton&simid=608035609715216037&selectedIndex=0


 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

 

2. Program category: 
 

 Acquisition      Housing 
 

 Administration/Planning     Public Facilities 
 

 Economic Development     Public Services 
 
 

3. Priority need(s) met (use list provided in Exhibit C): 
 

a) Public services 
 

b)       
 

c)       
 
 

4. Proposed output type and number (select more than one if necessary): 
 

        persons directly served           housing units rehabilitated/acquired 
 

        households directly served           jobs created/retained 
 

        businesses rehabilitated           other (specify:       ) 
 

 

5. Check one HUD-defined objective that best relates to your potential CDBG-funded program:  
 

  Create Suitable Living Environments → address issues in daily life (social barriers, physical barriers, etc.) 
 

  Provide Decent Affordable Housing → address individual, family, or neighborhood housing needs 
 

  Expand Economic Opportunity → address economic development (job creation, commercial rehab, etc.) 
 

 

6. Check one HUD-defined outcome that best relates to your potential CDBG-funded program: 
 

  Availability/Accessibility → make basic services more readily available/accessible to low-income persons 
 

  Affordability → make basic services more affordable for low-income persons in a variety of ways 
 

  Sustainability → improve the overall viability of communities (blight elimination, LMI benefits, etc.) 
 

PART C – FUNDING INFORMATION (limit narrative responses to the space provided) 

 

1. CDBG funds requested (minimum of $10,000):  $86,550 
 

2. Percent of total program/project budget that will be covered by this CDBG award:  100% 
 
3. Is it anticipated that CDBG funding will be needed for this activity in the future?  Yes 
      If so, describe the reason and plan for future funds. 
      The basic needs of low to moderate income residents, including connecting unhoused persons to community 
resources. 
 
4.  If a public service activity was funded through CDBG during the previous program year, describe the       

growth of the activity/program expected for the 2021PY.  
           



 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

 

5.    Amounts of prior year CDBG awards received by your department: 
 

       2022-2023 = $0    2021-2022 = $0  2020-2021 = $0 

 
 

6. Detailed program/project budget for CDBG funds (Please be as detailed and specific as possible) 
 

Program/Project Activity CDBG Award Allotment 

Salaries $57,174 

Fringe $17,152 

Office space (program only)  $      

Utilities $      

Communications $      

Copies/Printing $      

Supplies and Materials $12,224 

Mileage $      

Audit $      

Indirect costs (specify)        $      

Other (specify)       $      

Other (specify)       $      

Other (specify)       $      

Other (specify)       $      

Other (specify)       $      

TOTAL: $86,550 
 
 

7.   If using the funds for wages/salaries, please list the titles of the positions and the percentage of the 
total wages/salary for each that will be funded by this CDBG award. 
 

Community Resource Navigator: 86% of funds used for salary and fringe.  
 
8.   If the entire amount of your request is not allocated, will the activity still be possible?  
And if so, how will the activity be altered to allow for the smaller award? 
 

      

 



 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

 

 

9. SPECIFIC major sources that will/may also fund this program/project in 2021: 
 

Leverage Source (i.e. general funds, capital funds, etc.) Amount Status 

a)       $      (select one) 

b)       $      (select one) 

c)       $      (select one) 

d)       $      (select one) 

e)       $      (select one) 
 

 

10. Describe your efforts to secure additional/complementary funding for your program/project. If this 
 program/project will generate program income, please note the amount and how it will be spent. 
 

      

 

PART D – PROJECT DESCRIPTION (limit narrative responses to the space provided) 
 

1. Describe the activities to be carried out through this grant request and how this activity relates to the 
mission of your department and the City.   

The Health Department is committed to fostering an environment where all residents can thrive in their living, 
working, and recreational pursuits by ensuring that their fundamental needs are met. Grounded in the principles 
of public health best practices, this role will actively extend direct assistance to individuals experiencing 
homelessness. It will deliver precise, reliable, and timely information about available resources in a manner that 
uniquely addresses their needs.  

2. Describe how the project meets the national objective and how it fits into the program category, both 
chosen above (Part B). 

This position will directly work with people expereincing homelessness along with domestic violence. The 
Community Resource Navigator will serve as a link between the police department (who receive first calls of 
someone in trouble) and community resources (who are able to address the needs). This role will provide 
immediate support and assistance to individuals and families in crisis situations, or low-mod limited clientele, 
with a focus on securing basic needs and safety. Moreover, this position will guide clients through the intricacies 
of accessing essential resources, skillfully navigating bureaucratic and administrative processes to facilitate a 
smoother and more effective support system. 

3. Identify the projected target population the proposed CDBG-funded program/project will serve 
 (i.e. age, race, residency, disability, income level, other unique characteristics/information). 

In July 2023, a Point In Time survey in Appleton identified 70 individuals as unsheltered or living in 
uninhabitable environments. This included nine minors, 17 individuals over the age of 55, and 20 who disclosed 
struggling with chronic illness or mental health issues (with an additional 37 not responding to that question). 
The Community Resources Navigator will be dedicated to supporting this specific population throughout the 
entire year. 



 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

 

4. Describe how this program/project is unique and/or coordinates with others to avoid duplication of 
services and meets the high priority needs of the community as chosen in Part B. 

Frequently, the Police Department receives calls concerning individuals experiencing homelessness who, while 
not engaging in criminal activities, are in need of basic necessities and shelter. To address this, the Community 
Resource Navigator will be situated within the Police Department to promptly engage with these individuals, 
offering a comprehensive health-first approach to challenging situations.This initiative aims not only to meet 
immediate needs but also to provide accessibility to suitable living environments, fostering a more sustainable 
and supportive future for those experiencing homelessnes by actively working to remove social barriers.  

  

 

PART E – OUTCOMES (limit narrative responses to the space provided) 
 
 
  

1. Describe how the potential CDBG-funded program relates to the outcome chosen above (Part B). 
Community partners in Appleton offer a diverse range of resources to address the essential needs of individuals 
facing homelessness and domestic violence. However, navigating these resources can be particularly challenging, 
especially during times of crisis. The allocation of CDBG funding would enable the creation of a Community 
Resources Navigator position, offering crucial guidance to individuals and families in navigating these resources 
during moments of crisis, making basic services more readily available to low-income individuals and others in 
crisis.  

  
2. Briefly describe data that will be collected and/or analysis used to measure success in achieving the   
      objective and outcome identified above (Part B) for the target population. 

The successful attainment of our objective will be measured by a reduction in the frequency of duplicate calls to 
law enforcement for an individual client. Our strategy involves the Community Navigator connecting individuals 
with community resources during the initial call or prior to contacting law enforcement. Success in achieving the 
desired outcome will be evident in the streamlined identification and coordination of resources to support 
individuals. This approach aims to optimize the allocation of time, with less spent by the police and local 
community organizations on locating individuals in need, allowing more time for providing meaningful support. 

 

PART F – ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Please attach the following information relating to your program/project: 
 

   Detailed Budget Breakdown (most current) 
 

   Department Structure Chart 
 

   Descriptive Material (brochures, flyers, fact sheets, etc.) 
 

 

PART G – AUTHORIZATION 
 
 
 

Charles Sepers 

  
 
 

Health Officer | Director 

Name of Department Head  Title of Department Head 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 

 

Signature of Department Head  Date 



 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A: FY 2023 Income Limits Documentation System 
Appleton, Wisconsin MSA 

FY 2023 Income 
Limit Category 1 person 2 person 3 person 4 person 5 person 6 person 7 person 8 person 

Extremely Low  $21,300 $24,350 $27,400 $30,400 $35,140 $40,280 $45,420 $50,560 

Very Low (50%) $35,500 $40,550 $45,600 $50,650 $54,750 $58,800 $62,850 $66,900 

Low (80%) $56,750 $64,850 $72,950 $81,050 $87,550 $94,050 $100,550 $107,000 

                  

NOTE: The Appleton, WI MSA contains the following areas: Calumet County, WI; and Outagamie County, WI. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

EXHIBIT B 

  



 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

2024 CITY PROPOSAL FORM 
 

 

EXHIBIT C: Priority Needs – City of Appleton 
As an Entitlement Community, the City of Appleton provides grant assistance for local projects through use of 
Community Development Block Grants (CDBG). Each year, organizations may apply for funding to implement 
activities that meet the goals and objectives as defined in the City’s Five-Year Consolidated Plan. The priority needs 
for 2020-2024, around which these goals revolve, are included in the following table: 
 

Goals and Outcomes Summary  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 



DRAFT 7/05/2023

1.0 - HEALTH OFFICER

 

1.0 - HEALTH OFFICER

 

1.0 – Deputy Director 

Health 

 

1.0 – Deputy Director 

Health 

 

1.0 - City 

Sealer

 

1.0 - City 

Sealer

 

1.0 - Supervisor 

Environmental 

Health

 

1.0 - Supervisor 

Environmental 

Health

 

1.0 – Emergency 

Management Coordinator

(80% consortium grant 

funded)

1.0 – Emergency 

Management Coordinator

(80% consortium grant 

funded)

 

4.0 - Public Health 

Nurse

 

 

4.0 - Public Health 

Nurse

 

3.0 - 

Environmentalist

 

3.0 - 

Environmentalist

 

1.0 – Administrative 

Assistant 

1.0 – Administrative 

Assistant 

1.5 - Weights & 

Measure 

Specialist

 

1.5 - Weights & 

Measure 

Specialist

 

1.0 – 

Community 

Health 

Supervisor

 

1.0 – 

Community 

Health 

Supervisor

 

1.0 – 

Coordinated 

Entry Specialist

 

1.0 – 

Coordinated 

Entry Specialist

 



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET

HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Public Health Officer:  Charles E. Sepers

Deputy Director of Public Health:  Sonja R. Jensen

Health.xls Page 381 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

MISSION STATEMENT

DISCUSSION OF SIGNIFICANT 2023 EVENTS

Community Health Assessment:

Building Partnerships and Collaboration:

Focus on Social Determinants of Health:

Health.xls Page 382 10/3/2023

The mission of the Appleton Health Department is to safeguard the environment, promote public health, and protect 
consumers in the community by providing high-quality services responsive to the needs of the people.  Our belief is 
that prevention is the most effective public health strategy.

In 2023, the Appleton Health Department focused on a combination of strategic initiatives, including the beginning 
of a comprehensive community health assessment and developing 3-year strategic plan, which includes increased 
focus on social determinants of health and robust partnership development.

In 2023, the Appleton Health Department begun the Community Health Needs Assessment with the Age Friendly 
Appleton Survey. Developing a robust, ongoing community health assessment process will provide data-driven 
insights into our community’s health needs and assets. By regularly assessing and monitoring health indicators, we 
will not only identify health issues early but also track the effectiveness of all community interventions from all 
partners over time.

Additionally, the Appleton Health Department is working with all health departments and hospitals in the Tri-County 
region to develop a regional community health assessment and improvement planning approach. We understand 
that health is a collective responsibility. It's a task that cannot be achieved by a single entity, and it requires the 
whole community's effort. Therefore, we aim to strengthen and broaden our partnerships with local organizations, 
healthcare providers, educational institutions, and other key stakeholders. By collaborating, we can pool resources, 
share expertise, and coordinate our efforts to improve health outcomes. This regional focus for this shared work will 
better serve our collective residents.

In our work, we recognize the profound impact of social determinants of health—conditions in the places where 
people live, learn, work, and play that affect a wide range of health and quality-of-life outcomes. We are committed 
to focusing on these determinants, including housing, education, income stability, and environment, to address 
health at its roots. In addition, we seek to promote policies that create healthier living conditions and enable access 
to essential services for all members of our community.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

MAJOR 2024 OBJECTIVES

DEPARTMENT BUDGET SUMMARY
Programs Actual Budget %

Unit Title 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024 Change *
 $       300,909  $       350,016  $       385,596  $        385,596  $       552,715 43.34%

12510 Administration             78,472           152,998           174,872            174,872           186,534 6.67%
12520 Nursing           373,053           394,517           520,425            520,425           467,388 -10.19%
12530 Environmental Health           320,909           335,540           363,115            363,115           447,821 23.33%
12540 Weights & Measures           211,811           213,181           219,051            219,051           223,896 2.21%

 $       984,245  $    1,096,236  $    1,277,463  $     1,277,463  $    1,325,639 3.77%
Expenses Comprised Of:
Personnel           909,755        1,025,234        1,177,876         1,177,876        1,233,385 4.71%
Training & Travel               9,325             10,530             16,380              16,380             16,440 0.37%
Supplies & Materials             17,852             16,869             17,973              17,973             18,875 5.02%
Purchased Services             47,313             43,603             65,234              65,234             56,939 -12.72%
Full Time Equivalent Staff:
Personnel allocated to programs 11.95             11.95             11.95             11.95              13.146           

* % change from prior year adopted budget
Health.xls Page 383 10/3/2023

TOTAL

Program Revenues
Program Expenses

Renewing relationships and expanding collaborative partnerships will be at the heart of the Appleton Health 
Department's objectives for 2024. Major lines of effort include completion of the 2023 Community Health Needs 
Assessment and completion of a Community Health Improvement Plan in collaboration with community partners. 
This includes leading the creation and implementation of action planning related to the Appleton's Age Friendly 
Community designation in partnership with community stakeholders.

Additionally, the Appleton Health Department is co-leading a regional effort within the public health jurisdictions 
within Calumet, Outagamie, and Winnebago Counties, including the City of Menasha, along with regional hospital 
partners, to develop and implement a first-ever regional Community Health Needs Assessment and Community 
Health Improvement Plan using funds from local nonprofits. This regionalized effort to understand and address 
health issues affecting neighboring communities will serve to allow for localized approaches to addressing these 
issues, while making the planning, data collection, and sensemaking more efficient across participating agencies. 

Another major objective in 2024 will be the implementation of an electronic medical record system for Appleton 
Health Department patients. Currently using paper charts, the use of a new electronic medical record system will do 
three things: 1) record staff spent toward various lines of effort, which is required for accurate grant match reporting. 
This function is currently being handled by iSeries, which is scheduled to sunset in 2025; 2) provide a platform for 
scheduling vaccine clinics. The current scheduling platform was created in-house by IT and is no longer supported; 
and 3) increase staff efficiency with charting patient records, currently done by hand.

Recent changes to statutory compliance to DHS 140 has dramatically reduced the reporting requirements of local 
health departments that are accredited by the Public Health Accreditation Board (PHAB). This, combined with a 
pursuit of industry best practice, will allow the Appleton Health Department to place increased focus on PHAB 
accreditation in 2024. Areas of interest for 2024 include creating a public facing performance management platform 
to monitor key performance indicators, updating and developing policies across all divisions and developing ongoing 
processes for review and update by the Board of Health, developing a schedule of quality improvement processes 
to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of programs and their administration, and developing a public health 
workforce training plan.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Administration Business Unit 12510

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Implements Key Strategy #1:  "Responsibly deliver excellent services".

Objectives:

Enforce local and state laws regarding public health and consumer issues.

Collaborate with community healthcare providers and agencies to improve the public's health and well-being.

Major Changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:
No major changes.

Health.xls Page 384 10/3/2023

Provide long range planning, policy development, fiscal supervision, personnel management and general clerical 
support to program areas.

Through management activities, enforcement, and collaboration, the Health Officer assures public health services 
to the City of Appleton. 



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Administration Business Unit 12510

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
480100 General Charges for Svc -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Total Revenue -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 51,400$         110,219$       124,800$       124,800$       135,055$       
615000 Fringes 15,211           32,786           38,235           38,235           39,552           
620100 Training/Conferences -                     681                3,000             3,000             3,000             
620600 Parking Permits 840                840                960                960                960                
630100 Office Supplies 725                751                1,200             1,200             1,200             
630300 Memberships & Licenses 1,705             1,896             2,000             2,000             2,000             
630500 Awards & Recognition 136                -                     179                179                218                
630700 Food & Provisions -                     242                239                239                290                
631603 Other Misc. Supplies -                     -                     500                500                500                
632001 City Copy Charges 6,760             2,188             2,000             2,000             2,000             
632002 Outside Printing 42                  1,355             1,000             1,000             1,000             
632700 Miscellaneous Equipment -                     25                  200                200                200                
641307 Telephone 314                343                318                318                318                
641308 Cellular Phones 1,339             1,672             241                241                241                

Total Expense 78,472$         152,998$       174,872$       174,872$       186,534$       

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health.xls Page 385 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Public Health Nursing Business Unit 12520

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:

Major Changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:

Health.xls Page 386 10/3/2023

The nursing program prevents disease and promotes health through epidemiology, collaboration, consultation, 
assessment, intervention and case management to citizens and healthcare providers of Appleton.

There was a considerable reduction in Public Health Nursing salary and fringe line items through COVID-19 grant 
dollars and Communicable Disease intake, which includes COVID-19 mitigation activity. This will be the final year in 
which these dollars are available for use. Salary and fringe for Public Health Nursing will return to using general 
fund dollars when these funds are expended. 

The Memberships and Licenses line item has increased from $180 annually to $930. This change includes 
maintaining the mandatory license/certifications required for staff. This change provides greater consistency across 
City departments for ensuring licensure/certification. 

General Charges for Service increased due to participation in a State program, for the first time, to receive partial 
reimbursement for tuberculosis (TB) services.  Additionally, the department will begin providing a new fee for 
service programs that will provide TB skin testing at a cash rate. 

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and 
#6: "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".

Prevent the occurrence and spread of disease in the community through: disease investigation, intervention, and 
partner notification; immunization against vaccine preventable diseases; investigation of elevated childhood blood 
lead levels; data collection; coordination with other area providers and the State; and public education.

Promote citizen health through assessment, intervention, case management and education for high risk families 
and adults.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Public Health Nursing Business Unit 12520

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 70$                67$                500$              500$              200$              
480100 General Charges for Svc 168                335                250                250                4,000              

Total Revenue 238$              402$              750$              750$              4,200$           

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 247,466$       268,071$       338,877$       338,877$       311,027         
610800 Part-Time Wages 2,810             4,002             23,952           23,952           24,182           
615000 Fringes 92,465           95,099           110,567         110,567         89,928           
620100 Training/Conferences 1,196             528                1,900             1,900             1,900             
620200 Mileage Reimbursement 333                1,398             -                     -                     -                     
620600 Parking Permits 3,360             3,360             3,840             3,840             4,320             
630300 Memberships & Licenses -                     -                     180                180                930                
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 5,505             7,385             7,500             7,500             7,400             
640700 Recycling Pickup 278                814                300                300                400                
641307 Telephone 964                707                600                600                605                
641308 Cellular Phones 4,689             3,626             3,664             3,664             2,400             
642501 CEA Operations/Maint. -                     -                     1,770             1,770             1,044             
642502 CEA Depreciation/Replace. -                     -                     775                775                752                
643000 Health Services 12,500           -                     12,500           12,500           12,500           
643100 Interpreter Services 1,487             9,527             14,000           14,000           10,000           

Total Expense 373,053$       394,517$       520,425$       520,425$       467,388$       

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health.xls Page 387 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Environmental Health Business Unit 12530

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:

Major Changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:
During 2023, an updated License Fee Schedule was adopted, which increased revenues significantly.

Training/Conferences decreased due to one-time training for new staff during 2023.

Cellphone expense increased due to increased FTE.

Health.xls Page 388 10/3/2023

The Environmental Health program ensures safe food handling practices and protects the health and safety of 
Appleton residents and visitors through annual licensed establishment inspections, nuisance complaint 
investigations and communicable disease epidemiology.

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and   
#6: "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".

Prevent the occurrence and spread of disease in the community through regulatory activities in public eating and 
drinking establishments, retail food establishments, recreational facilities and body art establishments.

Assess, consult and correct human health hazards including those associated with lead paint, solid waste, housing 
sanitation, potential rabies exposure and vector control.

Provide public education and act as a referral mechanism to other State and local agencies for information on 
environmental and safety hazards.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Environmental Health Business Unit 12530

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
430500 Health License 168,337$       182,976$       195,200$       195,200$       349,865$       

Total Revenue 168,337$       182,976$       195,200$       195,200$       349,865$       

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 222,161$       224,834$       251,631$       251,631$       299,360$       
610500 Overtime Wages 322                1,134             -                     -                     -                     
615000 Fringes 80,401           91,595           87,672           87,672           125,555         
620100 Training/Conferences 667                828                3,100             3,100             2,200             
620600 Parking Permits 1,260             1,260             1,440             1,440             1,920             
630300 Memberships & Licenses -                     7                    150                150                262                
630400 Postage/Freight -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 13                  1,339             1,300             1,300             1,300             
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 964                -                     -                     -                     -                     
632700 Miscellaneous Equipment 283                251                -                     -                     250                
641307 Telephone 430                460                400                400                400                
641308 Cellular Phones 1,205             1,370             1,584             1,584             2,112             
641800 Equipment Repairs & Maint. 165                -                     300                300                50                  
642501 CEA Operations/Maint. 2,840             2,652             5,312             5,312             4,177             
642502 CEA Depreciation/Replace. 2,873             2,428             2,326             2,326             2,050             
643100 Interpreter Services -                     -                     200                200                200                
643200 Lab Fees 7,325             7,382             7,700             7,700             7,985             

Total Expense 320,909$       335,540$       363,115$       363,115$       447,821$       

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health.xls Page 389 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Weights & Measures Business Unit 12540

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Implements Key Strategy #2:  "Encourage active community participation and involvement".

Objectives:

Monitor business methods to prevent fraudulent advertising and trade practices.

Major Changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:

Health.xls Page 390 10/3/2023

Provide consumer protection through complaint investigation, measurement and weighing device testing, price 
scanning device testing, product check weighing and label verification.

Provide investigative services for the City Clerk's Office in licensing and regulating "going out of business" sales, 
commercial solicitors, salvage dealers and taxi cab/limousine service firms.

With the addition of Greenville to the Northeast Weights and Measures Consortium, revenue increased by $5,798 
without adding any additional staff. 

The program educates, consults and inspects local businesses to ensure the delivery of full quantity and fair, 
equitable trade practices between the Appleton business community and the consumer.

After increasing the Weights and Measures License Fee schedule in 2023, operating expenses continued to be 
subsidized by general fund dollars.  To reduce this gap, the Appleton Health Department developed a tiered 
strategy that will eliminate taxpayer subsidy of the program by fully funding statutorily mandated activity with 
program revenue.  The first step in this plan is to increase the daily rate from $446 to $460 in 2024, and additional 
increases every other year thereafter.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Weights & Measures Business Unit 12540

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
431200 Wts & Measures License 56,932$         71,640$         93,310$         93,310$         93,310$         
480100 General Charges for Svc 75,402           94,998           96,336           96,336           105,340          

Total Revenue 132,334$       166,638$       189,646$       189,646$       198,650$       

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 144,220$       139,513$       145,779$       145,779$       147,179$       
615000 Fringes 53,300           57,981           56,363           56,363           61,547           
620100 Training/Conferences 409                375                700                700                700                
620600 Parking Permits 1,260             1,260             1,440             1,440             1,440             
630200 Subscriptions 10                  -                     -                     -                     -                     
630300 Memberships & Licenses 160                -                     225                225                225                
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 377                808                500                500                300                
632700 Miscellaneous Equipment 1,172             622                800                800                800                
641307 Telephone 91                  87                  100                100                90                  
641308 Cellular Phones 617                537                610                610                600                
641800 Equipment Repairs & Maint. -                     -                     -                     -                     200                
642501 CEA Operations/Maint. 3,913             6,174             5,991             5,991             4,272             
642502 CEA Depreciation/Replace. 6,282             5,824             6,543             6,543             6,543             

Total Expense 211,811$       213,181$       219,051$       219,051$       223,896$       

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

Charges for Service - Nontax
Charges for sealer's services # of Days Charge
@ $460 per day

Ashwaubenon 60                  27,600$         
Berlin 13                  5,980             
Fox Crossing 10                  4,600             
Greenville 8                    3,680             
Kaukauna 21                  9,660             
Kimberly 6                    2,760             
Little Chute 17                  7,820             
Neenah 36                  16,560           
New London 18                  8,280             
Ripon 18                  8,280             
Waupaca 22                  10,120           

229                105,340$       

Health.xls Page 391 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH DEPARTMENT

2021 2022 2023 2023 2023 2024
ACTUAL ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL ORIG BUD REVISED BUD BUDGET

Charges for Services 
422500 Health Grants & Aids 70                   67                   -                      500                 500                 200                 
430500 Health License 168,338          182,976          11,479            195,200          195,200          349,865          
431200 Weights & Measures License 56,933            71,640            6,940              93,310            93,310            93,310            
480100 General Charges for Service 75,570            95,333            37,466            96,586            96,586            109,340          

TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUES 300,911          350,016          55,885            385,596          385,596          552,715          

Salaries
610100 Regular Salaries 584,522          656,464          229,453          861,087          861,087          892,621          
610500 Overtime Wages 1,213              243                 209                 -                      -                      -                      
610800 Part-Time Wages 2,810              4,002              4,587              23,952            23,952            24,182            
611000 Other Compensation 520                 520                 395                 -                      -                      -                      
611400 Sick Pay 1,175              -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
611500 Vacation Pay 78,139            86,544            26,998            -                      -                      -                      
615000 Fringes 241,376          277,461          92,238            292,837          292,837          316,582          

TOTAL PERSONNEL 909,755          1,025,234       353,880          1,177,876       1,177,876       1,233,385       

Training~Travel
620100 Training/Conferences 2,272              2,412              748                 8,700              8,700              7,800              
620200 Mileage Reimbursement 333                 1,398              414                 -                      -                      -                      
620600 Parking Permits 6,720              6,720              -                      7,680              7,680              8,640              

TOTAL TRAINING / TRAVEL 9,325              10,530            1,162              16,380            16,380            16,440            

Supplies
630100 Office Supplies 725                 751                 244                 1,200              1,200              1,200              
630200 Subscriptions 10                   -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
630300 Memberships & Licenses 1,865              1,903              820                 2,555              2,555              3,417              
630400 Postage/Freight -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
630500 Awards & Recognition 136                 -                      -                      179                 179                 218                 
630700 Food & Provisions -                      242                 -                      239                 239                 290                 
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 390                 2,147              215                 2,300              2,300              2,100              
632001 City Copy Charges 6,760              2,188              436                 2,000              2,000              2,000              
632002 Outside Printing 42                   1,355              59                   1,000              1,000              1,000              
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 6,469              7,385              -                      7,500              7,500              7,400              
632700 Miscellaneous Equipment 1,455              898                 327                 1,000              1,000              1,250              

TOTAL SUPPLIES 17,852            16,869            2,101              17,973            17,973            18,875            

Purchased Services
640700 Solid Waste/Recycling Pickup 278                 814                 -                      300                 300                 400                 
641200 Advertising -                      -                      251                 -                      -                      -                      
641307 Telephone 1,799              1,597              300                 1,418              1,418              1,413              
641308 Cellular Phones 7,850              7,205              1,020              6,099              6,099              5,353              
641800 Equipment Repairs & Maint. 165                 -                      -                      300                 300                 250                 
642501 CEA Operations/Maint. 6,753              8,826              2,185              13,073            13,073            9,493              
642502 CEA Depreciation/Replace. 9,156              8,252              2,216              9,644              9,644              9,345              
643000 Health Services 12,500            -                      -                      12,500            12,500            12,500            
643100 Interpreter Services 1,487              9,527              1,006              14,200            14,200            10,200            
643200 Lab Fees 7,325              7,382              -                      7,700              7,700              7,985              

TOTAL PURCHASED SVCS 47,313            43,603            6,978              65,234            65,234            56,939            

TOTAL EXPENSE 984,245          1,096,236       364,121          1,277,463       1,277,463       1,325,639       

2024 Health.xlsx Page 392 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET

HEALTH GRANTS 

Public Health Officer:  Charles E. Sepers

Deputy Director of Public Health:  Sonja R. Jensen

Health Grants.xls Page 393 10/3/2023

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

HEALTH GRANTS

MISSION STATEMENT

DISCUSSION OF SIGNIFICANT 2023 EVENTS

Maternal Child Health (MCH) Grant 

Prevention Grant

Vaccine Improvement Plan Grant

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Lead Poisoning Prevention Grant

COVID-19 Response Grants

Bioterrorism/Public Health Preparedness Grant

Health Grants.xls Page 394 10/3/2023

It is the mission of the Appleton Health Department to facilitate equitable community wellbeing through education, 
health promotion, and response to public health needs.  

This grant supports training to deal with the effects of bioterrorism and naturally occurring events such as a 
pandemic.  The department's Public Health preparedness staff continued to provide technical and staff support to 
several communities including Marquette and Waushara counties and the City of Menasha.  These are contracted 
agreements that benefit all communities for these shared services.  Working together brings value through regional 
planning and response capacity. 

Current focus areas include working with early childhood centers and other community worksites to support 
breastfeeding friendly policies and certifications. Other focus areas include networks of early childhood services 
addressing family support, child development, mental health, and injury prevention on a local level.

This grant will be used to support the department's efforts related to meeting its statutory requirement for 
completing the Community Health Improvement Plan.

These grant dollars support our goal of having more than 90% of Appleton children, aged 19-35 months, receive 
age-appropriate immunizations.  This grant also supports the Northeast Wisconsin Immunization Coalition, a 
regional effort which strives to increase immunization rates in Northeast Wisconsin. 

Nursing staff works with families to minimize and prevent lead poisoning of children through follow-up of cases of 
elevated blood lead and prevention education. 

These grants support the City's efforts to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and to track expenditures and federal 
and State grant funds.  



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

HEALTH GRANTS

MAJOR 2024 OBJECTIVES

Maternal Child Health (MCH) Grant
Provide maternal and child health program services to Appleton residents.

Vaccine Improvement Plan Grant

CDC Lead Poisoning Prevention Program Grant 
Reduce the incidence of childhood blood lead poisoning through intervention and education.

COVID-19 Response Grants

Bioterrorism/Public Health Preparedness Grant

DEPARTMENT BUDGET SUMMARY
Programs Actual Budget %

Unit Title 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024 Change *
 $       780,293  $       454,961  $       642,879  $          642,879  $       650,517 1.19%

2710 MCH Grant 28,146            31,757            31,757            33,223              31,733            -0.08%
2730 Prevention Grant 9,579              6,628              6,628              6,628                6,627              -0.02%
2731 Communicable Disease -                      11,030            5,700              5,700                5,700              0.00%
2740 CDC Lead Grant 9,841              9,819              9,819              9,819                11,337            15.46%
2750 Vaccine Improvement 21,441            24,192            24,192            24,192              24,102            -0.37%
2770 COVID-19 Response 627,635          283,947          458,207          458,207            460,253          0.45%
2780 Bioterrorism Grant 83,652            89,489            106,576          106,576            110,765          3.93%

Discontinued Programs -                      -                      -                      -                        -                      N/A      
 $       780,294  $       456,862  $       642,879  $          644,345  $       650,517 1.19%

Expenses Comprised Of:
Personnel 482,216          338,391          384,856          385,341            338,750          -11.98%
Training & Travel 8,911              47,592            26,370            27,351              21,304            -19.21%
Supplies & Materials 121,813          41,855            6,364              6,364                57,300            800.38%
Purchased Services 167,354          29,024            225,289          225,289            183,163          -18.70%
Transfers Out -                      -                      -                      -                        50,000            N/A      
Full Time Equivalent Staff:
Personnel allocated to programs 1.54                1.54                1.54                1.54                  1.45                1.54%

* % change from prior year adopted budget
Health Grants.xls Page 395 10/3/2023

Ensure that more than 90% of all two-year-olds served by the department will have completed their primary vaccine 
series.

TOTAL

Program Revenues
Program Expenses

Support the City's efforts to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and track expenditures and federal and State grant 
funds.

Provide plan development and training opportunities for Public Health staff, key community leaders and first 
responders.  



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - MCH Grant Business Unit 2710

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:

Major changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:

Health Grants.xls Page 396 10/3/2023

The Maternal Child Health (MCH) grant program ensures universal access to MCH public health services for eligible 
Appleton residents. 

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and       
#6:  "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".

Work with community partners to build an integrated system that promotes optimal physical, social, emotional, and 
developmental health of children, mothers, fathers and their families.

Participate in Outagamie County child death review teams and Fox Valley Safe Kids coalition to address prevention of 
injuries and death identified through reviews.

Transfer Out - General Fund is for a new indirect cost allocation that will cover expenses related to salary and fringe, 
associated with internal service departments (Finance, IT, HR) necessary for implementation of these services.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - MCH Grant Business Unit 2710

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 28,146$          31,757$          31,757$          31,757$          31,733$          

Total Revenue 28,146$          31,757$          31,757$          31,757$          31,733$           

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 13,821$          6,910$            7,069$            7,069$            -$                    
610800 Part-Time Wages 8,840              15,088            16,587            17,072            24,366            
615000 Fringes 3,494              3,369              5,441              5,441              3,545              
620100 Training/Conferences -                      813                 2,660              3,641              1,774              
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 1,991              5,577              -                      -                      -                      
791100 Transfer Out - General Fund -                      -                      -                      -                      2,048              

Total Expense 28,146$          31,757$          31,757$          33,223$          31,733$          

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health Grants.xls Page 397 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Prevention Grant Business Unit 2730

PROGRAM MISSION
      

       

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Implements Key Strategy #1:  "Responsibly deliver excellent services".

Objectives:

Major Program Changes:
No major changes.  

Health Grants.xls Page 398 10/3/2023

Provide accurate, meaningful public health data to the Board of Health and Common Council for effective needs 
assessment and program management and evaluation.

This grant supports the department expenses related to our Community Needs Assessment and Community Health 
Improvement Plan.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Prevention Grant Business Unit 2730

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 9,579$           6,628$           6,628$           6,628$           6,627$           

Total Revenue 9,579$           6,628$           6,628$           6,628$           6,627$            

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries -$                   5,150$           928$              928$              5,149$           
615000 Fringes -                     1,478             -                     -                     1,478             
620100 Training/Conferences 3,252             -                     5,700             5,700             -                     
630100 Office Supplies 714                -                     -                     -                     -                     
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 5,613             -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Expense 9,579$           6,628$           6,628$           6,628$           6,627$           

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health Grants.xls Page 399 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Communicable Disease Grant Business Unit 2731

PROGRAM MISSION
      

Increase communicable disease awareness in the community along with practical prevention opportunities.
       

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:

Major Program Changes:
No major changes.  

Health Grants.xls Page 400 10/3/2023

Ensure or increase capacity to respond to communicable disease events, including staff time, training, and the 
purchase of additional equipment.  

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and    
#6:  "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Communicable Disease Grant Business Unit 2731

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids -$                   11,029$         5,700$           5,700$           5,700$           

Total Revenue -$                   11,029$         5,700$           5,700$           5,700$            

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries -$                   -$                   4,746$           4,746$           4,746$           
610800 Part-Time Wages -                     9,823             -                     954                -                     
615000 Fringes -                     133                954                -                     954                
620100 Training/Conferences -                     1,074             -                     -                     -                     

Total Expense -$                   11,030$         5,700$           5,700$           5,700$           

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health Grants.xls Page 401 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - CDC Lead Grant Business Unit 2740

PROGRAM MISSION

Provide lead poisoning prevention services to high-risk children in the City of Appleton.

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:
The Lead Poisoning Prevention Program is intended to:

Assure screening for elevated blood lead levels in children at risk for lead poisoning.

Decrease identified lead hazards in the environment.

Increase awareness of lead poisoning, prevention and control among community stakeholders.

Connect lead poisoned children and families to appropriate medical, housing and support services.

Major changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:

Health Grants.xls Page 402 10/3/2023

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and    
#6:  "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".

Transfer Out - General Fund is for a new indirect cost allocation that will cover expenses related to salary and 
fringe, associated with internal service departments (Finance, IT, HR) necessary for implementation.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - CDC Lead Grant Business Unit 2740

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 9,840$            9,819$            9,819$            9,819$            11,337$          
503500 Other Reimbursements -                      1,220              -                      -                      -                      

Total Revenue 9,840$            11,039$          9,819$            9,819$            11,337$           

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 8,401$            7,125$            8,406$            8,406$            9,143$            
615000 Fringes 1,308              1,154              1,413              1,413              1,462              
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 132                 1,540              -                      -                      -                      
791100 Transfer Out - General Fund -                      -                      -                      -                      732                 

Total Expense 9,841$            9,819$            9,819$            9,819$            11,337$          

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health Grants.xls Page 403 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Vaccine Improvement Grant Business Unit 2750

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:

Major changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:

Health Grants.xls Page 404 10/3/2023

Provide immunization to children from the ages of 2 months to 18 years, without barriers, in order to prevent 
disease.  In addition, these resources are used to provide outreach and education.

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and    
#6:  "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".

The Department's immunization program is expected to administer vaccines primarily to children from 2 months 
through 18 years of age, and assist in developing the immunization infrastructure necessary to raise immunization 
levels and prevent vaccine preventable diseases such as diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, polio, measles, mumps, 
rubella, haemophilus influenza B, varicella, rotavirus, hepatitis B, hepatitis A and bacterial meningitis. 

Transfer Out - General Fund is for a new indirect cost allocation that will cover expenses related to salary and 
fringe, associated with internal service departments (Finance, IT, HR) necessary for implementation.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Vaccine Improvement Grant Business Unit 2750

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 21,441$          24,192$          24,192$          24,192$          24,102$          

Total Revenue 21,441$          24,192$          24,192$          24,192$          24,102$           

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 17,717$          20,239$          19,649$          19,649$          19,754$          
615000 Fringes 2,654              3,211              3,279              3,279              2,792              
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 1,070              742                 1,264              1,264              -                      
791100 Transfer Out - General Fund -                      -                      -                      -                      1,556              

Total Expense 21,441$          24,192$          24,192$          24,192$          24,102$          

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health Grants.xls Page 405 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - COVID-19 Pandemic Response Business Units 2773, 2774, 2775, 2776

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Objectives:
COVID-19 Response Grants

Major changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:

Health Grants.xls Page 406 10/3/2023

Software support increased due to implementation of an electronic medical record system.  This will be a dramatic 
upgrade from the Health Department's paper record process.  It will add efficiency to all interactions with resident 
clients, improving the level of service provided, and reducing the administrative time, per contact, committed by City 
staff.  COVID-19 recovery funds are expected to purchase an initial license and setup for the system, as well as 
prepay for 3 years of service agreements. 

COVID-19 Recovery funds continue to cover the Health Department remodel, including additional funding to cover 
the costs of remodeling the 5th floor conference room, which includes combining a storage closet with the existing 
room, as well as new furniture, lighting, carpet, and fixtures. 

Coordinate the City's response to the COVID-19 pandemic, including supplies of personal protective equipment, 
sanitizers and sanitizing services, etc.

Implements Key Strategies #4:  "Continually assess trends affecting the community and proactively respond" and    
#6:  "Create opportunities and learn from successes and failures".

These federal and State grants support the City's efforts to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and to track 
the related expenditures.  

Transfer Out - General Fund is for a new indirect cost allocation that will cover expenses related to salary and 
fringe, associated with internal service departments (Finance, IT, HR) necessary for implementation of these.

COVID-19 Recovery funds will be used to replace aging computer hardware for all staff, as well as install 
technology (computer and audio/visual equipment) in both the 1st floor clinic space, that also services as a 
conference room and community meeting space for multiple departments, and the 5th floor conference room.



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - COVID-19 Pandemic Response Business Unit 2773, 2774, 2775, 2776

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 504,670$        283,945$        458,207$        458,207$        460,253$        
501000 Miscellaneous Revenue 18,130            -                      -                      -                      -                      
503500 Other Reimbursements 104,835          -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total Revenue 627,635$        283,945$        458,207$        458,207$        460,253$         

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 137,029$        121,450$        175,505$        175,505$        129,850$        
610500 Overtime 15,369            -                      -                      -                      -                      
610800 Part Time 169,739          28,993            -                      -                      -                      
615000 Fringes 32,699            28,098            35,324            35,324            25,767            
620100 Training/Conferences -                      41,130            17,050            17,050            19,050            
620500 Employee Recruitment 1,547              -                      -                      -                      -                      
620600 Parking Permits 713                 219                 480                 480                 -                      
630100 Office Supplies 457                 4,115              2,000              2,000              2,000              
630300 Memberships & Licenses -                      464                 50                   50                   2,250              
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 94,299            7,801              -                      -                      2,000              
632002 Outside Printing 15,479            -                      1,000              1,000              1,000              
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 900                 942                 2,000              2,000              -                      
632700 Miscellaneous Equipment 265                 22,214            -                      -                      50,000            
641308 Cellular Phones -                      958                 241                 241                 -                      
641400 Janitorial Service 2,898              -                      -                      -                      -                      
642400 Software Support 187                 120                 -                      -                      47,004            
642501 CEA Operations/Maint. -                      -                      1,481              1,481              -                      
642502 CEA Depreciation/Replace. -                      -                      776                 776                 -                      
643100 Interpreter Services -                      -                      300                 300                 1,000              
659900 Other Contracts 156,054          27,443            7,000              7,000              12,000            
680300 Buildings -                      -                      215,000          215,000          122,668          
791100 Transfer Out - General Fund -                      -                      -                      -                      45,664            

Total Expense 627,635$        283,947$        458,207$        458,207$        460,253$        

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

Training/Conferences
National Association of County and

City Health Officials 6,000$            
American Public Health Association 13,050            

19,050$          

Miscellaneous Equipment
Computer Replacement

and other site and field technology needs 50,000$          
50,000$          

Software Support
Patient Health Record 47,004$          

47,004$          

Buildings
Health Department Interior Finishes

and Furniture 122,668$        
122,668$        

Health Grants.xls Page 407 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Bioterrorism Grant Business Unit 2780

PROGRAM MISSION

PROGRAM NARRATIVE
Link to City Goals:

Implements Key Strategy #2:  "Encourage active community participation and involvement".

Objectives:

Establish and maintain 24/7 response capacity.

Encourage and support a regional response to communicable disease prevention, response and recovery.

Major changes in Revenue, Expenditures or Programs:
No major changes.

Health Grants.xls Page 408 10/3/2023

Provide a regional approach to all hazard emergency preparedness.  Appleton provides staff support to the NEW 
(Northeast Wisconsin) Public Health Preparedness Partnership, comprised of Appleton and four area health 
departments.

Prepare and train for public health emergencies which may result from terrorist activity or naturally occurring events 
such as an influenza pandemic.

Prepare response plans which integrate and compliment local Emergency Operations Plans (EOP) or Emergency 
Support Functions (ESF).



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Health Grants - Bioterrorism Grant Business Unit 2780

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY
    
  Actual Budget
 Description 2021 2022 Adopted 2023 Amended 2023 2024

Revenues
422500 Health Grants & Aids 82,757$         80,688$         88,576$         88,576$         92,765$         
490800 Misc Intergov Charges 275                5,683             18,000           18,000           18,000           
503500 Other Reimbursements 620                -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenue 83,652$         86,371$         106,576$       106,576$       110,765$       

Expenses
610100 Regular Salaries 57,406$         69,789$         85,389$         85,389$         87,860$         
615000 Fringes 13,738           16,381           20,166           20,166           21,884           
620100 Training/Conferences 2,906             2,396             -                     -                     -                     
620600 Parking Permits 493                420                480                480                480                
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 893                -                     50                  50                  50                  
641307 Telephone 237                239                250                250                250                
641308 Cellular Phones 312                264                241                241                241                
642000 Facilities Charges 4,507             -                     -                     -                     
659900 Other Contracts 3,160             -                     -                     -                     

Total Expense 83,652$         89,489$         106,576$       106,576$       110,765$       

DETAILED SUMMARY OF 2024 PROPOSED EXPENDITURES > $15,000

None

Health Grants.xls Page 409 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH GRANTS 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2023 2024
ACTUAL ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL ORIG BUD REVISED BUD BUDGET

Program Revenues
422400 Misc. State Aids -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
422500 Health Grants & Aids 656,433         448,058         (66,198)          624,879         624,879         632,517         
490800 Misc. Intergovernmental Charges 274                5,683             6,000             18,000           18,000           18,000           
501000 Miscellaneous Revenue 18,131           -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
503500 Other Reimbursements 105,455         1,220             -                     -                     -                     -                     

TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUES 780,293         454,961         (60,198)          642,879         642,879         650,517         

Personnel
610100 Regular Salaries 220,650         216,820         54,398           301,692         301,692         256,502         
610400 Call Time -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
610500 Overtime 15,369           -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
610800 Part-Time Wages 178,589         53,904           9,985             17,541           18,026           24,366           
611000 Other Compensation -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
611400 Sick Pay -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
611500 Vacation Pay 13,716           13,843           4,257             -                     -                     -                     
615000 Fringes 53,892           53,824           15,084           65,623           65,623           57,882           

TOTAL PERSONNEL 482,216         338,391         83,724           384,856         385,341         338,750         

Training~Travel
620100 Training/Conferences 6,158             46,953           8,054             25,410           26,391           20,824           
620200 Mileage Reimbursement -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
620500 Employee Recruitment 1,547             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
620600 Parking Permits 1,206             639                -                     960                960                480                

TOTAL TRAINING / TRAVEL 8,911             47,592           8,054             26,370           27,351           21,304           

Supplies
630100 Office Supplies 1,171             4,115             -                     2,000             2,000             2,000             
630300 Memberships & Licenses -                     464                20                  50                  50                  2,250             
630700 Food & Provisions -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
631603 Other Misc. Supplies 100,805         7,801             10                  50                  50                  2,050             
632001 City Copy Charges -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
632002 Outside Printing 15,479           -                     -                     1,000             1,000             1,000             
632102 Protective Clothing -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
632400 Medical/Lab Supplies 4,093             7,261             809                3,264             3,264             -                     
632700 Miscellaneous Equipment 265                22,214           15,692           -                     -                     50,000           

TOTAL SUPPLIES 121,813         41,855           16,531           6,364             6,364             57,300           

Purchased Services
640100 Accounting/Audit Fees -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
640201 Attorney Fees -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
640400 Consulting Services -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
641307 Telephone 237                239                52                  250                250                250                
641308 Cellular Phones 312                1,222             341                482                482                241                
641400 Janitorial Service -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
641600 Building Repairs & Maint. -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
642000 Facilities Charges 7,404             -                     -                     -                     -                     122,668         
642400 Software Support 187                120                468                -                     -                     47,004           
642501 CEA Operations/Maint. -                     -                     -                     1,481             1,481             -                     
642502 CEA Depreciation/Replace. -                     -                     -                     776                776                -                     
643100 Interpreter Services -                     -                     -                     300                300                1,000             
659900 Other Contracts/Obligations 159,214         27,443           10,193           7,000             7,000             12,000           
680300 Buildings -                     -                     -                     215,000         215,000         -                     

TOTAL PURCHASED SVCS 167,354         29,024           11,054           225,289         225,289         183,163         

Transfers
791100 Transfer Out - General Fund -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     50,000           

TOTAL TRANSFERS -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     50,000           

TOTAL EXPENSE 780,294         456,862         119,363         642,879         644,345         650,517         

2024 Health Grants.xlsx Page 410 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
HEALTH GRANTS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT)

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
Revenues Actual Actual Budget Projected Budget

Intergovernmental * 656,433$        448,058$        624,879$        624,879$        632,517$        
Charges for Service 275                5,683             18,000           18,000           18,000           
Miscellaneous Revenue -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Other Reimbursements 123,586          1,220             -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenues 780,294          454,961          642,879          642,879          650,517          

Expenses

Program Costs 780,294          456,862          642,879          644,345          650,517          
Total Expenses 780,294          456,862          642,879          644,345          650,517          

Revenues over (under)
Expenses -                     (1,901)            -                     (1,466)            -                     

Fund Balance - Beginning 52,799           52,799           50,898           50,898           49,432           

Fund Balance - Ending 52,799$          50,898$          50,898$          49,432$          49,432$          

Health Grants.xls Page 411 10/3/2023



CITY OF APPLETON 2024 BUDGET
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

NOTES

Health Grants.xls Page 412 10/3/2023



 

 

 

 

 

TO: Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 

  

FROM: Kara Homan, AICP Director of Community & Economic Development  

  

DATE: December 13, 2023 

RE: Resolution of Support to allow Fox Commons Properties, LLC to pursue WEDC CDI 

Grants to develop “Fox Den” Public Market 

 

Dark Horse Development and Boldt Holdings (Developers)/Fox Commons Properties, LLC 

(Owner/Applicant) is requesting the City provide a resolution of support (attached) for their Wisconsin 

Economic Development Corporation (WEDC) Community Development Investment (CDI) Grant Application. 

An overview of the WEDC CDI Grant program is attached to this memo.   

 

The developer is pursuing CDI grant funding to support enhancements to the central atrium of the “Fox 

Commons”; and to develop a public market, termed “Fox Den” on level one of “Fox Commons.”  An 

overview of their CDI Grant proposal and a conceptual diagram of “Fox Den” are attached.   

 

In the past, the WEDC required the municipality to serve as the grant applicant, and ‘pass thru’ grant funding 

to the private developer.  Recently, the WEDC shifted their grant process, allowing the private developer to be 

the applicant, so long as resolution of support from the municipality is provided.  Under the new model, there 

is no administrative burden nor fiscal impact to the City of Appleton.   

 

We have determined the proposal aligns with both the College North Neighborhood Plan, as well as the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan recommendations, as follows: 

 

 

“Enhancing the City Center Plaza is seen as an opportunity to support a more livable downtown. 

Incorporating a public market into the existing plaza... is seen as an opportunity to help activate the 

space and provide additional services to the growing number of downtown residents.”  

- Appleton Comprehensive Plan pg 292 

 

 

“The conceptual vision involves increasing the transparency of the structure to promote the visual 

connectivity to the street and to permit the activity to “spill out” to the streets and engage pedestrians. 

The planning process identified strong support for a public market concept, which would create another 

year-round attraction in the heart of downtown.”  

- Appleton Comprehensive Plan pg 317 

  

 

 

“Development Concept #28. City Center Plaza. Addressed by the City’s Downtown Plan, the City 

Center is a key feature of the downtown redevelopment framework in the creation of a linear pedestrian 

friendly corridor more prominently linking the library and College Ave. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



- 2 - 

 Adaptive enhancements should include: 

• Remodeling the interior space to direct people between College Avenue and the Public 

Library.” 

-College North Neighborhood Plan pg 38 

 

 

Staff Recommendation:  

 

The Resolution of Support for the Dark Horse Development/Fox Commons Properties, LLC WEDC CDI grant 

application BE APPROVED. 

 

Attachments: 

Resolution of Support 

Fox Den Project Overview 

Fox Preliminary Design Concept 

WEDC CDI Grant Overview 

 

 



 

 

Resolution No. 2023-05 
 
 

SUPPORT AND AUTHORIZE THE SUBMITTAL OF A COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
INVESTMENT (CDI) GRANT TO THE WISCONSIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION (WEDC) BY FOX COMMONS PROPERTIES, LLC  
 
 
WHEREAS, the Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation (WEDC) provides Community 
Development Investment (CDI) Grants in support of urban, small city, and rural community 
shovel-ready projects with an emphasis on downtown community-driven efforts; and 
 
WHEREAS, as part of the grant process, the applicant must receive authorization from their 
municipality’s governing body to submit an application to the CDI Grant program; and 
 
WHEREAS, Dark Horse Development and Boldt Holdings (developers)/Fox Commons Properties, 
LLC (applicant/owner) has recently purchased 10 W. College Avenue, Appleton, Wisconsin; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the applicant to pursue CDI Grant monies for the renovation of this 
property to include enhancements to the central atrium and development of “Fox Den”, a public 
market; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant is already working in partnership with the City of Appleton as part of an 
existing Development Agreement related to the overall redevelopment of the former City Center 
Plaza/Avenue Mall into “Fox Commons”. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Common Council of the City of Appleton that 
as the governing body of the City of Appleton, they do hereby support and authorize the 
submittal of a CDI Grant application to the WEDC by Fox Commons Properties, LLC for the 
property located at 10 W. College Avenue, Appleton, Wisconsin. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized and 
directed to assist with the grant process as deemed necessary by the WEDC. 
 

Adopted this    day of December 2023. 
 
 

               
         Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor  

 
 

       
Attest: Kami Lynch, City Clerk 



Fox Commons Properties, LLC. 
1110 N. Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Drive 
Milwaukee, WI 53703 
 

 

 

 

11/20/23 

Community & Economic Development Dept. 
100 N. Appleton St, Appleton, WI 54911 

Dear Community & Economic Development Dept., 

Below is the executive summary for the Fox Commons development, for the CDI Grant Letter of Resolution request. 

Dark Horse Development and Boldt are redeveloping Appleton’s City Center Plaza into a community-centric space, 
renamed Fox Commons. Encompassing 185,000 square feet, this urban mixed-use space will host a variety of tenants, 
including student housing, educational centers, retail, as well as commercial and medical establishments.   
 
 A cornerstone to Fox Commons is the proposed Fox Den—a  10,000+ sqft public market, focusing on wholesome food 
choices and local, micro-retail shops. Located on the first floor of Fox Commons, Fox Den will be a melting pot of 
diverse vendors and skilled food artisans, providing visitors with a variety of meals and shopping adventures. With 
designated activity areas, Fox Den promises family-friendly entertainment, such as bag toss, live shows, trivia games, 
and movie evenings.  
 
Plans for Fox Commons include a revitalization of the central atrium. This redesign will integrate a community stage, 
public seating areas, and aim to create an inviting atmosphere. It seeks to connect Appleton's main street with the 
College North Neighborhood development, replacing existing escalators with a pedestrian thoroughfare. This will link 
the new library and diverse housing options directly to Appleton’s downtown and the Fox Den, enhancing 
connectivity and walkability in the downtown area, thereby stimulating further economic growth.  
 

“The atrium design will allow for a critical connection point between the North College Neighborhood that 
will soon be home to a newly redeveloped library, an updated city transit center, and several mixed-use 
residential and commercial developments with the core of the College Ave business district. This important 
connectivity will help to promote increased use of the transit and greater accessibility for downtown 
residents, employees, and guests.”  

-Appleton Downtown Inc.  
 

The transformation of Fox Commons is bolstered by strong public and private partnerships. It aligns with the city’s 
developmental strategies, including the Appleton Comprehensive Plan and the College North Neighborhood Plan, and 
has garnered substantial community support.  
 

“On behalf of the Fox Cities Chamber, we write to express our support for the grant application submitted by 
Dark Horse Development and Boldt in support of the Fox Commons Public Market and Atrium expansion 
project. Dark Horse and Boldt are redeveloping Appleton's City Center Plaza, to transform the 185,000 square 
foot building into Fox Commons, a vibrant urban mixed-use space. Fox Commons will encompass student 
housing and educational centers, retail, as well as commercial and medical facilities.”  

-Fox Valley Chamber of Commerce  
  

Dark Horse and Boldt are seeking the support of the Community Development Incentive Grant, to aid in the creation 
of the Fox Den and the central atrium. The financial backing sought will facilitate the integration of superior quality 
finishings, thereby enhancing the ambiance and overall experience within the central atrium and the adjoining Fox 
Den food hall. This funding will also mitigate the financial strain resulting from reduced rental income, a direct 



Page 2 

consequence of dedicating larger spaces for public use. The viability of this venture is dependent on the support from 
the CDI Grant, without which it would not be financially sustainable.  
 

Warm regards, 

Samuel Schmidt 

VP BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, DARK HORSE DEVELOPMENT 



Fox Den Foodhall - Preliminary Concept Design
10 W. College Ave.

Appleton, WI  54911

DATE:
11.22.2023

PROJECT NO:
XXXX23.00

THE KUBALA WASHATKO 
ARCHITECTS, INC.
W61 N617 Mequon Avenue
Cedarburg, WI  53012
262-377-6039

SS

SS

DN

UP

UP

UPUP

UP

UP

UP

UP

DN

DN

DN

DN

UP

1

1

K

J.1

H.2

G.3

F.4

E

D

C

B

A

2

2

3

3

4

4

5

5

6

6

7

7

8

8

9

9

10

10

11

11

12

12

13

13

F

G

H

J

J.6

H.1

H.5

D.4

E.3

6.4

6.4

7.6

7.6

9.3

9.3

C.2

A.7

11.3

11.3

FLOOR ELEVATION 100'-4" FLOOR ELEVATION 100'-0" FLOOR ELEVATION 99'-3 5/8"

TENANT SPACE
117

WEST ARCADE
113

WOMEN
116

MEN
115

JANITOR
119

TENANT SPACE
110

TENANT SPACE
109

TENANT SPACE
108 TENANT SPACE

107

TENANT SPACE
106

CENTRAL
COURT

102

EAST ARCADE
133

TENANT SPACE
138 TENANT SPACE

136

STAIR D
140

SPRINKLER
RISER ROOM

141

VESTIBULE
101

STAIR E
105

ELEVATOR
104

ELEVATOR
MECHANICAL

ROOM
103

STAIR A
111

SPRINKLER
RISER ROOM

112

TENANT SPACE
124

ELECTRICAL
126

CORRIDOR
125

FREIGHT
ELEVATOR

127

STAIR C
128

MECHANICAL
RM
132

TDS BATTERY
130

ELEVATOR
MECHANICAL

ROOM
129

VESTIBULE
123

TRASH 
ANDRECYCLING

120

ELEVATORS
121

STAIR F
122

UTILITY
118

STAIR B
142

ELECTRICAL
143

9'-0 3/8"

SECURITY
139

STAIR
134

6'-
1 

1/
8"

8'-
3 

1/
4"

101.3101.4

101.2 101.1

120.2
123.1 123.2

123.4123.3

120.1

124.1 124.2

124.3

116.1

115.1

119.1

6'-
7 

1/
4"

1'-
8"

28'-6"

19'-5 1/4"

8'-
0 

1/
8"

6'-
7 

7/
8"

102.1 103.1

18'-7"

EXISTING COLUMN GRID DIMENSIONS

31'-8" 31'-8" 31'-8" 31'-8" 31'-8" 13'-0" 15'-0" 15'-0" 13'-0" 30'-10" 10'-8" 20'-2" 30'-10" 13'-1" 17'-9" 30'-10"

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
O

LU
M

N 
GR

ID
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

NS

12
'-1

"
11

'-2
"

4'-
6"

9'-
6"

9'-
6"

1'-
6"

3'-
5"

18
'-7

"
7'-

4"
14

'-8
"

7'-
4"

14
'-8

"
4'-

3 
1/

2"
17

'-8
 1

/2
"

8'-
7"

19
'-9

"
6'-

0"
25

'-4
"

9'-
4"

21
'-1

0"

149'-9 3/4"

74
'-0

 3
/4

"
59

'-1
1 

3/
8"

VESTIBULE
145

CORRIDOR
114

PLAY 
[573 SF]

6
[312 SF]8

[587 SF]

BAR
[658 SF]

7
[305 SF]

SEATING
5

[393 SF]
3

[570 SF]
4

[443 SF]

RETAIL
[722 SF]

SEATING

STORAGE
[2603 SF]

GOLF
[1201 SF]

ELEC

MGMT

BAR
STORAGE

2
[350 SF]

1
[393 SF]

PLATFORM

SEATING

FAM
ASST

R
A

M
P

EXISTING
[4,821 SF]

A
D

D
'L

 R
S

T
R

M
 A

R
E

A

SEATING

A0.0
DATE:
11.29.2023

PROJECT NO:
262323.00



 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
INVESTMENT GRANT 

BUILDING VIBRANT COMMUNITIES IN WISCONSIN 

 

The Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation’s (WEDC’s) 

Community Development Investment (CDI) Grant 

Program helps transform communities by funding projects that 

mobilize people and resources to inspire positive and 

substantive local development. 

 

How it works 

The CDI Grant Program will support urban, small city, and rural 

community (re)development efforts by providing financial 

incentives for catalytic shovel-ready projects with emphasis on, 

but not limited to, community-driven commercial corridor 

efforts. The maximum grant amount is generally $250,000. 

Grant recipients must provide a minimum 3:1 matching 

investment in project costs; projects located in a designated 

economically distressed community, a Development 

Opportunity Zone, or a rural community must provide a 

minimum 1:1 matching investment. Additionally, a project 

where a key component is to provide child care services or 

expand housing availability may also be approved by WEDC to 

provide 1:1 matching funds. 

 

Eligibility requirements 

Grant recipients must demonstrate significant, measurable 

benefits in job opportunities, property values, and/or leveraged 

investment by local and private partners in at least one of the 

following efforts: 

• Development of a significant destination attraction 

• Rehabilitation and reuse of an underutilized or landmark 

building 

• Infill development 

• Historic preservation 

• Infrastructure efforts providing substantial benefits to 

downtown residents/property owners 

• Mixed-use development 

 

Eligible activities 

CDI Grant funds may be used for the following activities:  

• Building renovation 

• Historic preservation 

• Demolition 

• New construction 

• Infrastructure improvements 

 

LEARN MORE  

 

For more information about 

becoming eligible for the 

Community Development 

Investment Grant Program, 

contact a Wisconsin 

Economic Development 

Corporation (WEDC) 

regional economic 

development director. 

 

You can find the list of 

regional directors and 

territories covered at 

wedc.org/regional. 

 



 
 
 
 

 
TO: Alder Fenton, CEDC Committee Chair 
 Alder Hartzheim, HR/IT Committee Chair 
 
  
FROM: Kara Homan, AICP, Director of Community & Economic Development 
 Matt Tooke, City Assessor  
 
DATE: December 5, 2023 

RE: Request to Over hire Real Estate Property Lister Position 

 
Background/Overview: 
Karen Pietila, our current Real Estate Property Lister, has tendered her retirement notice 
effective January 26, 2024.  Karen is the only person within the city that performs work in 
this functional area.  To adequately prepare her replacement to fill the duties required of 
this position, we are requesting to over hire.  Ideally, we are aiming to have this person 
selected and prepared to start as early as January 2nd, 2024. 
 
The Real Estate Property Lister position is a critical position to ensure accurate 
property/ownership records, which is needed for accurate assessments and tax/utility 
bills.  Timely & accurate completion of work related to this function is necessary and ties 
into various other functions of the city. 
 
The funds for this over hire would be from salary savings due to a targeted “earliest” start 
date for the new Code Compliance Inspector of January 29, 2024.  Given both the Real 
Estate Property Lister position, and the Code Compliance Inspector position are Grade 
5, 1 month’s cost for both positions are estimated to be nearly the same. 
 
Fiscal Impact:  This proposal is budget NEUTRAL. 
 
Staff Request:  
CED and HR staff request approval of the proposed request to over hire the Real Estate 
Property Lister Position. 
 
 

 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CEDC Minutes 10-25-23
	0002_1_Oshkosh AAP Powerline Trail Variance Request Memo 12-13-23
	0002_2_SPCP Deed Restrictions
	0002_3_Oshkosh AAP, LLC Accepted OTP 11-9-23
	0003_1_Merge Ph II DA Extend Purchase Date Memo to CEDC 12-13-23
	0003_2_Request from Merge Purchase Date Extension Development Agreement
	0003_3_1st Amendment to Dev Agrm Merge Ph II 2-3-23
	0003_4_Merge Ph II Blue Ramp Recorded Dev Agrm 2-16-22
	0004_1_Fox Commons Easement Request Memo 12-13-23
	0004_2_Ltr Signed by Fox Commons and Merge Re Terms of No Build Easement
	0004_3_Sketch of Proposed Easement Area on Former Blue Ramp Site
	0004_4_Redline - No Build Easement (11.13.23)-36056159-v3 and No Build Easement (11.13.23)-36056159-v4 - 36104438.1
	0005_1_CRN Position_CDBG Funding Request_CEDC Memo 12-13-23
	0005_2_Community Resource Navigator_CDBG_2024_Health-PD_Full Application
	Health Department Draft 7.5.23.vsd
	Health


	0006_1_Memo_CDI Grant_FoxDen_CEDC_12-13-23
	0006_2_Resolution2023-05_CityofAppletonSupport_CDIGrant_FoxCommons
	0006_3_CDI Executive Summary Fox Commons Properties LLC
	VP Business Development, Dark horse Development

	0006_4_Fox Den Food Hall draftv1
	0006_5_WEDC Community Development Investment Grant Overview
	0007_1_Memo_CED_OverhireRequest_PropertyLister



